
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Audit Committee 
 
 

Date: Tuesday, 16 March 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Virtual meeting - livestream link: 
https://vimeo.com/514250482 

 
Everyone is welcome to attend this committee meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of the Audit Committee 

Councillors - Ahmed Ali (Chair), Clay, Lanchbury, Russell and Watson 
 
Independent Co-opted members: Dr D Barker and Dr S Downs  
 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 
Under the provisions of these regulations the location where a meeting is held 
can include reference to more than one place including electronic, digital or 
virtual locations such as Internet locations, web addresses or conference call 
telephone numbers. To attend this meeting it can be watched live as a webcast. 
The recording of the webcast will also be available for viewing after the meeting 
has ended. 

Public Document Pack



Audit Committee 

 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Urgent Business 

To consider any items which the Chair has agreed to have 
submitted as urgent. 
 

 

2.   Appeals 
To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow 
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items 
in the confidential part of the agenda. 
 

 

3.   Interests 
To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party 
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at 
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare 
that at the start of the item under consideration.  If Members also 
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must 
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item. 
 

 

4.   Minutes 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held 
on 19 January 2021. 
 

5 - 10 

5.   Accounting Policies 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer is 
enclosed. 
 

11 - 42 

6.   External Audit Update Report - to follow   
 

 

7.   Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 - to follow   
 

 

8.   Risk Review Item: Internal Audit Strategy and Resourcing - to 
follow   
 

 



Audit Committee 

 

 

Information about the Committee  

The Committee is responsible for approving the Council’s statement of accounts; 
considering the Audit Commission’s Annual Audit and Inspection Letter and 
monitoring the Council’s response to individual issues of concern identified in it.  
The Committee also considers the Council’s annual review of the effectiveness of its 
systems of internal control and assurance over the Council’s corporate governance 
and risk management arrangements, and engages with the external auditor and 
external inspection agencies to ensure that there are effective relationships between 
external and internal audit. 
 
Members of the public do not have a right to speak at meetings but may do so if 
invited by the Chair. If you have a special interest in an item on the agenda and want 
to speak, tell the Committee Officer, who will pass on your request to the Chair.  
Members of the public are requested to bear in mind the current guidance regarding 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) and to consider submitting comments via email to the 
Committee Officer rather than attending the meeting in person.  The contact details of 
the Committee Officer for this meeting are listed below. 
 
Agenda, reports and minutes of all Council meetings can be found on the Council’s 
website www.manchester.gov.uk  
 
Joanne Roney OBE 
Chief Executive,  
3rd Floor, Town Hall Extension,  
Lloyd Street, 
Manchester, M60 2LA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further Information 

For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee 
Officer:  
 Andrew Woods 
 Tel: 0161 234 3011 
 Email: andrew.woods@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Monday, 8 March 2021 by the Governance and Scrutiny 
Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 3, Town Hall Extension (Lloyd Street 
Elevation), Manchester M60 2LA



This page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

Audit Committee  
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2020 
 
This Audit Committee meeting was conducted via Zoom, in accordance with 
the provisions of the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Ahmed Ali - In the Chair 
Councillors Clay, Lanchbury, Russell and Watson 
 
Independent Co-opted members: Dr D Barker and Dr S Downs  
 
Also Present: 
Karen Murray (Mazars) - External Auditor 
Alastair Newall (Mazars) - External Auditor 
 
 
AC/21/01 Minutes  
 
Decision 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 26 November 2020 as a correct 
record. 
 
 
AC/21/02 External Audit Update 
 
The Committee considered the report of Council’s external auditors (Mazars) that 
provided the Committee with an update on audit work carried out. The Committee 
was reminded that the external audit of the Council’s 2019/20 financial statements 
and value for money conclusion in November 2020 and the signing the audit 
report on 30 November 2020. An updated Audit Completion Report with the 
completed audit findings had been circulated to all members of the Audit Committee. 
The external auditors are currently waiting to receive the Council’s Whole of 
Government Accounts (WGA) submission. This work will be carried out to 
instructions issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) and a report will be submitted 
to the NAO on the conclusions. Any significant findings from this work will be 
reported to the Audit Committee in a subsequent Audit Update Report. 
The process of audit planning for the 2020/21 audit will start in January/February 
2021 and the Audit Strategy Memorandum will be submitted at the March meeting of 
the Committee.  
 
Reference was made to the National Audit Office updated Code of Audit Practice that 
has now been applied from 2020/21. The new Code changes the work that auditors 
will be required to do, and the related reporting, on Councils arrangements to deliver 
value for money in their use of resources. The changes to the reporting requirements 

Page 5

Item 4



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

will mean that from 2020/21 a value for money conclusion will not be included within 
the Financial Statements Audit Report. A commentary on the Council’s arrangements 
to deliver value for money will now be included in a new Auditor’s Annual Report 
(which replaces the Annual Audit Letter). The NAO Code requires that where 
auditors identify weaknesses in Council arrangements they should report 
recommendations to the Council promptly throughout the year. 
 
The Chair invited questions from members of the Committee. 
 
A member referred to point 8 of the report and requested further explanation of the 
five themes outlined in the MHCLG's response to Sir Tony Redmond’s independent 
review. 
 
It was reported that the themes had been produced in order to provide more central 
co-ordination by bringing together the various strands of government. The Committee 
was informed that it would be unlikely that a single regulator would be established 
and new more simplified process would be introduced to help local authority 
accounts to be more accessible. Other recommendations included the importance of 
appointing independent members to audit committees, member training and the 
processes used by auditors and the meeting of the responsible council officers at 
least once a year. 
 
A member referred to the Value for Money opinion provided by the external auditor 
and asked what the arrangements will now require. 
 
It was reported that the new arrangements would require greater engagement with 
the Council on the arrangements to deliver value for money rather than to present an 
opinion. A longer narrative report will be submitted to provide a balanced assessment 
of the arrangements and processes to highlight changes, to promote good practice or 
actions needed for improvement.   
 
The City Treasurer reported that the impact of Covid19 would be addressed in the 
opinion provided by the Council’s Internal Audit. The recommendations of the 
Redmond report were largely welcomed and work on those had already started in 
respect budget preparations, value for money opinion and the Council’s financial 
resilience. 
 
A member referred to the issues reported on by the external auditor including the 
valuation of property, pensions and other group audits and asked whether this is a 
common theme with other local authority audit work. Reference was also made to 
demise of the Audit Commission and the use of private audit companies providing 
services for the public sector and the challenge for companies to access this very 
specialist market. Reference was also made the deadline for annual accounts and if 
this may be amended and if so what would the likely outcome be to producing final 
accounts on time. 
 
It was reported that this work was common to local authorities and auditors were 
addressing the work to find means to make improvements in those organisations. 
The public sector is reliant on the use of private external audit firms, however the 
PSA did provide a level of independence and controlled the appointment of auditors 

Page 6

Item 4



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

through a tendering process. The tendering process had drove down fees which was 
helpful for local authorities but in doing so may have made the market for that work 
less attractive to private companies. The deadline for the completion of final accounts 
is something the external auditor works toward and the pressure to complete local 
authority/health service audits is considerable due to capacity issues. There were 
concerns that the pressure for external auditors to meet current deadlines is 
unreasonable and the issue if extending the deadline for completing audits had been 
raised. The Committee was advised that accounts will not be signed off until the 
external auditor is satisfied that the audit has been properly completed but work 
would be ongoing to ensure that deadlines are achieved.  
 
Decision 
 
The report was noted 
 
AC/21/03 Internal Audit Assurance Report 2020/21 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City 
Treasurer and the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management that provided an 
update of progress on the agreed audit plan 2020/21, additional work assigned to the 
audit service and copies of the audit opinions issued in the period August to 
December 2020. The Committee was advised that audit work had been impacted 
during the year due to additional work taken on by Internal Audit. This included the 
provision of key support for the covid19 grant schemes to provide ongoing support 
to local businesses and the winter support for children and vulnerable families. The 
availability of resources has also affected the service and a ‘reach out’ had been 
undertaken to provide three additional posts and the subsequent recruitment to 
permanent posts following completion of a service and savings review. Members 
were informed that even with additional resources it will remain a challenge to 
complete all planned audit work by year end as a consequence of client availability 
due to the continued focus on the covid response and recovery which is acute across 
all areas of the Council and particularly within front line services in adults, health 
and care, children’s services and schools. 
 
The Chair invited members of the Committee to ask questions. 
 
Members referred to work being done on fraud checks on business grants and the 
impact the involvement of audit staff in this work has had on the audit team for the 
reason that staff are running the checks rather than providing a consultancy and 
facilitating role. Also, what arrangements will there be if the grants system is 
extended past financial year end as it is likely that the pandemic would continue. 
Reference was made to resources available to the Audit team and the involvement of 
Salford Council to undertake audit work on the Council’s ICT function in view of 
potential deletion of vacancies from the team structure. The Head of Risk and 
Internal Audit was asked to comment on the comparison of work undertaken in the 
previous year to this year and was it mandatory to provide an opinion if a sufficient 
amount of work had not been completed. 
 
It was reported that there is not a mandatory requirement to provide an audit opinion, 
however there is a requirement under the current procedures to provide an opinion to 

Page 7

Item 4



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

those charged with responsibility for governance such as the Audit Committee. The 
Committee was advised that heads of audit across the country were using outcomes 
from planned audits and other sources of assurance to inform the production of an 
opinion. Head of Internal Audit stated that other forms of assurance will include his 
own role and engagement in various governance and recovery groups. In providing 
the opinion it was important for the Audit Committee and stakeholders that there is 
clarity on the basis in which the opinion is taken. The CIPFA guidance would be used 
to inform the opinion on potential limitations and/or qualifications required and 
referenced. In noting that the amount of audit work had reduced it was reported that 
audit staff would still be obtaining assurances from planned audits and other work 
such as emergency grants and business recovery work undertaken during the year. 
The issue of using another authority to examine the Council’s ICT work is a routine 
arrangement that is done as a matter of course to involve an outside authority to 
undertake a review. This work was not as a result of the availability of resources. The 
process of appointing staff from the outreach process would begin next week to help 
address the current resource shortfall within the Audit Team for the final quarter and 
into the following year. It was reported that due to the current working arrangements, 
there may be challenges in working with clients during audits in Adults and Children’s 
Services and a degree of flexibility would be required to work with those clients to 
obtain assurances. The new improvement plan would help to obtain those 
assurances following discussions with the areas of services concerned. In response 
to the question on fraud checks it was reported that from the checks being 
undertaken, the majority of the work on business grants is system and process based 
and it was considered the work is valuable in gaining assurance for that area. The 
resource allocated to grant work will not be at the same level as it was previously 
because of confidence in the systems in place and the introduction of a post payment 
assurance plan and the provision of regular updates on their delivery. Further 
discussions will take place on the investigation of potential largescale fraud through 
the business grant scheme and this may impact on the fraud team’s resources. 
Discussions would be held with the Committee on the way forward to priorities work. 
It was reported that in view of the current circumstances the Council faces, it will be 
necessary to decide on priorities for audit work to be undertaken and identifying other 
sources of information. 
 
Members referred to the pressures on the Audit Team in particular, the additional 
responsibilities as a result of Covid19 and the importance of prioritising work to 
ensure that the audit of Children’s and Adults Services and Mental Health Services 
were maintained. Officers were asked for an update on the PSN and what strategy is 
in place to prioritise what audit work will take place and what the issues are in 
accessing clients and if there were other means in obtaining information. Members 
also asked what the Committee could do to support the service to ensure work is 
completed in view that audit work is still a necessary and important function within 
the Council.  
 
The City Treasurer responded and advised the Committee that the peak of the 
pandemic is now being faced by health and social care services and all non-essential 
work needed to stop to allow resources to be focused on maintaining hospital 
capacity and discharges. This relates, in particular to the point made on the capacity 
of clients to take part in audits of their service. In addition, it is necessary to balance 
core business as usual work with the new responsibilities associated with COVID-19.  

Page 8

Item 4



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

Internal Audit expertise has been required for the Business Rates grants assurance 
to ensure fraudulent claims are not paid and to satisfy government assurance 
requirements.  The workload associated with the grants programme for example has 
been shared across Revenues and Benefits, the Work and Skills Team, Finance and 
Internal Audit.  With regard to Financial Management the monthly returns provided to  
MHCLG have been time consuming but an important part of the evidence used to 
secure Government funding for the impact of COVID-19. These examples 
demonstrate that there is a very fine line on the decisions taken on how to prioritise 
capacity.  The pandemic has provided a good demonstration of the strengths within 
the Council services. Reference was also made the administering of the school 
voucher scheme for school children in Manchester and the benefit and level of 
assurance this has provided.   
 
The Committee was informed that issue of capacity also related to auditor’s ability to 
physically access documents to complete a sign off and the priorities of officers on 
more pressing issues such as vaccination work and testing. Internal Audit is not the 
only source of assurance and forms part of the annual opinion. Officers are working 
to obtain information through other sources within the organisation.  
 
It was confirmed that discussions will take place on the priorities to focus on areas 
such as Mental Health Casework and Homelessness due to the level of urgency in 
progressing this work.  
 
The Committee was advised that to best support officers it should continue to 
discharge its function in obtaining assurances and ensuring that audit work is 
completed. It was reported that senior officers are aware of the need to complete 
audit work to maintain and improve the work of the Council services and that the 
findings will be submitted to the Audit Committee.   
 
A member referred to outstanding audit work and asked if it was possible to 
collaborate with other officer colleagues to work smart to complete the work and if 
this was good practice. 
 
It was reported that as an example of collaborative working, work in Adult Services 
would be monitored by audit staff and would involve sitting in on meetings rather than 
just receiving copies of minutes and be at a higher level to take part in checking and 
testing to gain assurance.   
 
A member referred to changes within the staffing structure and what processes are in 
place to ensure that the level of senior management support for the City Treasurer 
will be in place.  
 
It was reported that a suitably qualified member of staff is currently in place for the 
Deputy Treasurer position on an interim basis and interviews would be taking place 
for the permanent replacement in the following week. Whilst there will be reduced 
capacity within Corporate Services, work will continue to ensure the best use of 
existing resources. This will enable the City Treasurer to maintain an overview of the 
work of the department.  
  
Decision 

Page 9

Item 4



Manchester City Council Minutes 
Audit Committee 19 January 2021  

 
 

The Committee noted the report and the comments received.  
 
AC/21/04 Outstanding Audit Recommendations 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
and the Head of Audit and Risk Management that provided a summary the current 
implementation position and arrangements for monitoring and reporting internal and 
external audit recommendations. 
 
The Chair invited members of the Committee to ask questions. 
 
A member referred to the Disability Supported Accommodation Services: Quality 
Assurance Framework and expressed concern that the recommendation from 
February 2018, for a register of all details including residents; staff and properties to 
be sent to Performance, Research and Intelligence team was yet to be implemented 
and the no further action was now required. The point was made that it is important 
that detailed records are produced and maintained to better protect vulnerable 
individuals the Council has responsibility for. 
 
It was reported that the recommendation had been implemented from an audit 
perspective that quality assurance checks were in place, however a more accurate 
update on the keeping of accurate registers within properties would be provided to 
members of the Committee. 
 
Decisions 
 

1. The Committee noted the report. 
 

2. To request a report be submitted to provide a review of resources within 
Internal Audit.   

 
 

Page 10

Item 4



 

 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Audit Committee – 16 March 2021 
 
Subject: Accounting Concepts and Policies, Critical Accounting 

Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Report of:  The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report explains the accounting concepts and policies, critical accounting 
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty that will be used in preparing 
the 2020/21 annual accounts. It also contains details of the new International 
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 on leasing that following deferral is now to 
be fully introduced by Local Government on 1 April 2022. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Members are requested to approve the accounting concepts and policies that will be 
used in completing the 2020/21 annual accounts and note the critical accounting 
judgements made and key sources of estimation uncertainty. 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name: Carol Culley    Name: Helen Seechurn 
Position: Deputy Chief Executive and      Position: Interim Deputy City Treasurer 
City Treasurer     
Telephone: 0161 234 3406   Telephone: 0161 234 1017  
E-mail: carol.culley@manchester.gov.uk  E-mail:helen.seechurn@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name: Julie Hardman 
Position: Group Finance Lead 
Telephone: 0161 234 4025   
E-mail: julie.hardman@manchester.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Item 5



 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. In line with best practice principles, this report presents the accounting 
policies that will be used in the preparation of the 2020/21 accounts. It also 
explains the requirement to include notes on critical accounting judgements 
and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
2. Accounting Policies 

 
2.1. The Council’s accounting policies are the specific principles, conventions, 

rules and practices that are applied in the production and presentation of the 
annual Statement of Accounts. These accounting policies have to be 
disclosed as a note to the annual accounts.  

 
2.2. The accounting policies to be used in the preparation of the 2020/21 annual 

accounts are attached at Appendix 1. There are two changes to the 
accounting policies from those used in 2019/20. 

 
2.3. As a result of a government consultation on the treatment of Dedicated 

School Grant deficit balances, additional information has been included in 
accounting policy 1.2.7 – Schools. The Schools and Early Years Finance 
Regulations 2020 came into force on 21 February 2020 and is applicable 
from 1 April 2020. The deficit must be carried forward to be funded from 
future DSG income, unless permission is sought from the Secretary of State 
for Education to fund the deficit from general resources. 
 

2.4. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2020 
came into force on 29 November 2020. Where a local authority has a deficit 
in respect of its schools budget for a financial year beginning on 1st April 
2020, 2021 or 2022, the authority – 

 must not charge to revenue account an amount in respect of the 
deficit; and 

 must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established, 
charged and used solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in 
respect of its school budget.  

 
2.5. An accounting adjustment is then made to move any DSG balances on a 

time limited basis to an unusable reserve established for that purpose. This 
changes from the previous accounting treatment as a usable reserve. 

 
2.6. Further detail has been added to accounting policy 1.2.22c – Local 

Government Pension Scheme relating to the advance payment made to the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund. An amount of £129.6m, an estimate of 
three years employer pension contributions, was paid in April 2020 and 
resulted in a saving of 1% in the employer contribution rate. At 31 March 
2021 the balance of the advance payment will reduce the pension liability on 
the balance sheet resulting in an imbalance between the pensions reserve 
and pensions liability that is unwound in the final year of the advance 
payment. 

 

Page 12

Item 5



 

 

2.7. IFRS16 (Leasing) is to be introduced for local government from 1 April 2022. 
This has been deferred for a further year due to the pressures on local 
authority finance staff as a result of the COVID pandemic. More detail on this 
new standard is provided in section 5 of this report. 
 

3. Critical Accounting Judgements 
 
3.1. In accordance with International Accounting Standards and the Code, the 

Council is required to disclose those judgements that management have 
made in the processing of applying the Council’s accounting polices that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The notes to the accounts contain details of the critical 
accounting judgements that have been made in completing the annual 
accounts. These are shown in Appendix 1. 
 

3.2. The critical judgements taken include which schools property, plant and 
equipment and Private Finance Initiative (PFI) related assets should be 
included on the Council’s balance sheet, whether a property should be 
classed as an operational property, an investment property or a heritage 
asset, classification of financial assets within financial instruments, treatment 
of transactions within the Better Care Fund and whether an organisation 
should be included within the Council’s group accounts and the election of 
the Council’s airport investment. 
 

3.3. The critical judgement relating to the Council’s upfront payment of its Greater 
Manchester Pension Fund pension contributions has been added to reflect 
the first year of the upfront payment and the intention to prepay the 
contribution for the three year period. 
 

4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
4.1. In preparing the annual accounts there are areas where estimates are made. 

These include  
● useful lives and valuations of properties which are estimated by 

qualified Valuers,  
● provision for business rate appeals based on claims received and 

previous experience of the outcome of appeals,  
● provisions for known compensation claims which are estimated 

based on experience of similar claims,  
● the amount of arrears that will not be collected which is estimated 

based on expectations of the collection of different types of debt 
and  

● the liability for future pension payments which is estimated by 
qualified actuaries.  
 

Details of these are shown in Appendix 1. 
 

5. Introduction of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 
 

Page 13

Item 5



 

 

5.1. IFRS16 is being introduced for local authorities from 1 April 2022 which 
means that the annual accounts for 2022/23 will be the first set of accounts 
produced in accordance with this standard. The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting requires the Council to disclose information relating to 
the impact of an accounting change required by a new standard that has 
been issued but not yet adopted by the 2021/22 Code as a note in the 
2021/22 accounts. 
 

5.2. The main impact of the standard is to remove (for lessees) the traditional 
distinction between finance leases and operating leases. For finance leases 
the asset is shown on the balance sheet, together with a liability to pay for 
the asset. In contrast, operating lease rentals are accounted for in the year 
they are paid. IFRS 16 requires all lessee leases (with two exemptions 
explained in the following paragraph) to be accounted for as finance leases, 
recognising the rights to use an asset. There are no changes for lessor 
accounting. 
 

5.3. There are two exemptions for lessees from applying this standard. These are 
short term leases and those where the value of the asset that the lease 
relates to is low. Short term leases are those will a lease term of twelve 
months or less at the commencement date. The Code and IFR16 allow 
individual councils to determine a monetary amount that would constitute low 
value. The Council has elected to use £10,000 for this amount as this is the 
Council’s approved de-minimis level for capital expenditure. Exempt leases 
will continue to be accounted for as operating leases. 
 

5.4. The amount of annual lease payments, will, from 2022/23, be split between 
an interest element and the write down of the lease liability on the balance 
sheet which represents the principal element. This write down of the lease 
liability will be matched to a minimum revenue provision so resulting in no 
change to the total amount affecting council usable reserves.   
 

5.5. At the time of writing this report, work is ongoing to quantify the effect of this 
change. It is likely that a number of properties will be classified as right of 
use assets. Certain items of equipment such as large printers and 
photocopiers, including those in schools, may also be included within this 
classification.  
 

6.   Recommendations 
 

6.1. The recommendations appear at the front of this report. 

Page 14

Item 5



 

 

   APPENDIX 1 
 
1. Accounting Concepts and Policies  
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2020/21 
financial year and its position at the year-end 31 March 2021. The Council is 
required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 which require the accounts to be prepared in accordance with 
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (The Code) 
issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), 
supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory 
guidance issued under Section 21(2) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
As local authorities need to reflect statutory conditions, specific statutory adjustments 
are complied with so that the Council’s accounts present a true and fair view of the 
financial position and transactions of the Council. All accounting policies are 
disclosed where they are material.  
 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally 
historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets 
and financial instruments. 
 
1.1. Underlying Assumptions 
 
1.1.1 Going Concern 
 
The Accounting Code, (standard IAS 1) requires management to make an 
assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to disclose any 
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. The authority discloses that 
the accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis and that the Council will 
continue in existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
This assumption is made because local authorities carry out functions essential to 
the local community and are themselves revenue-raising bodies (with limits on their 
revenue-raising powers arising at the discretion of central government). If an 
authority were in financial difficulty, the prospects are that alternative arrangements 
might be made by central government either for the continuation of the services it 
provides or for assistance with the recovery of a deficit over more than one financial 
year. The Code is clear that transfers of services under combinations of public sector 
bodies (such as local government reorganisation) do not negate the presumption of 
going concern. However, if there are material concerns about the financial health of 
the authority this would be raised as part of the statutory responsibilities of the 
Section 151 Officer. 
 
The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue 
and there are no material concerns over its financial position which would impact on 
this conclusion. 
 

Page 15

Item 5



 

 

1.2. Accounting Policies 
 
1.2.1 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)  
 
Property, Plant and Equipment assets have physical substance and are held for use 
in the provision of services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes and are 
expected to be used for more than one year (e.g. land and buildings). 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation and enhancement of property, plant and 
equipment has been capitalised on an accruals basis provided that it yields benefit to 
the Council, and the services it provides, for more than one financial year. 
Expenditure on repairs and maintenance is charged to revenue as it is incurred. 
 
Capital expenditure is initially added to the value of an asset but if expenditure is not 
considered to increase the value of the asset the value is reduced by this 
expenditure.  
 
In addition, all property, plant and equipment, where expenditure in excess of 
£500,000 has been incurred during 2020/21, have been considered by the Council’s 
Valuers who have quantified the amount of impairment. 
 
Measurement 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially shown on the Balance Sheet at cost, 
comprising the purchase price and all expenditure that is directly attributable to 
bringing the asset into working condition for its intended use. The Council does not 
capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst the assets are under construction. The 
assets are then revalued using methods of valuation on the basis recommended by 
CIPFA and in accordance with the guidance notes issued by the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  
 
Land and buildings and other operational assets are valued at current value, 
determined as the value that would be paid for the asset in its existing use. Where 
enough market evidence is not available, for example schools and leisure centres, 
current value is estimated at depreciated replacement cost, using the modern 
equivalent asset method.  
 
Short life assets, such as vehicles, are held at depreciated historical cost as a proxy 
for current value on the grounds of materiality. 
 
Council dwellings are valued at existing use value – social housing.  
 
Community assets and infrastructure are measured at depreciated historical cost. 
 
Assets under construction are held at historical cost and are not depreciated until 
brought into use. 
 
Surplus assets are valued at fair value based on the highest or best use of the asset 
from a market participant’s perspective. These are assets that are not in use by the 
Council but do not meet the definition of investment property or assets held for sale. 

Page 16

Item 5



 

 

Surplus assets mainly relate to land that is being held for regeneration purposes and 
future sale. 
 
Council dwellings are revalued annually. Other assets included in the Balance Sheet 
at current or fair value are valued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying 
amount is not materially different from their value at year end, but as a minimum 
every five years. 
 
Valuations have a valuation date of 1 April 2020. Any material change that occurs 
after the valuation date is taken account of in the balance sheet value. 
 
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to 
recognise unrealised gains. Where the increase is reversing a previous loss charged 
to the Deficit / Surplus on the Provision of Services on the same asset, the increase 
in valuation is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where decreases in value are identified and there is a balance of revaluation gains 
in the Revaluation Reserve relating to the asset, the value of the asset is written 
down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). Where there 
is a nil or insufficient balance in the Revaluation Reserve the value of the asset is 
written down against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where revaluation gains or losses are credited or charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the 
date of its formal implementation. Revaluation gains arising before that date are 
included in the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
The land and building elements of all properties are valued separately and treated as 
separate assets for accounting purposes. In addition to this and subject to an 
appropriate materiality level, any individual component within buildings which has a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the building is accounted for 
separately unless the components have a similar useful life to the main building. 
 
In considering assets for potential componentisation (i.e. the significant elements of 
the asset are valued separately) the Council has included all general fund buildings 
with a carrying value of more than £2m. Within each building the Council has set the 
threshold for recognition of components as 20% of the cost of the building. The 
following components have been valued separately in council dwellings – main 
building, roof, windows, external doors, kitchens, bathrooms, heating and electrical 
systems. 
 
1.2.2 Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Depreciation has been calculated using a straight-line method (i.e. apportioned 
equally over each year of the life of the asset) for all assets. The estimated useful life 
of each property is determined by a qualified valuer. Land and assets not yet 

Page 17

Item 5



 

 

available for use (assets under construction) are not depreciated. Each component 
of property, plant and equipment that is significant in relation to the total cost of the 
asset is depreciated separately based on its estimated useful life.  
 
Depreciation is charged to the service with a corresponding reduction in the value of 
the asset. The depreciation charge is reversed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account. Residual values, 
useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year end.  
 
Depreciation has been charged to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in 
accordance with proper practices and credited to the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR).  
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been charged on their historical cost being transferred from the 
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
1.2.3 Derecognition of Property, Plant and Equipment 
  
An item of property, plant or equipment is derecognised by disposal or when no 
future economic benefit or service potential is expected from its use.  
 
The carrying amount of a replaced or restored part of an asset is derecognised with 
the carrying amount of the new component being recognised. 
 
When an asset is disposed of the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet 
is written off to Other Operating Expenditure within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Sale proceeds from 
disposals are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
 
Any revaluation gains on the Revaluation Reserve, for assets disposed of or 
decommissioned, are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Income from an asset disposal in excess of £10,000 is classed as a capital receipt. 
Capital receipts from Right to Buy (RTB) sales of council dwellings are pooled 
between the Council and central government. The net RTB receipts received (after 
reduction of regional transaction costs and allowable debt) are split based on a share 
ratio provided by central government. If the government share of capital receipts, as 
calculated by the Office of Budget Responsibility, is exceeded the Council retains the 
remainder of the receipts to be used for the provision of new homes. If these receipts 
are not used within three years, they must be returned to the government (with 
interest at 4% above base rate). Non-RTB receipts are exempt from the capital 
pooling rules.  
 
The balance of capital receipts is credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and used 
to fund new capital expenditure or repay debt.  
 
The written off value of disposals is reversed through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.  

Page 18

Item 5



 

 

1.2.4 Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs) and Similar Contracts 
  
PFI and similar contracts (service concessions) are agreements to receive services 
where the responsibility for making available the property, plant and equipment 
needed to provide the services passes to the contractor. As the Council is deemed to 
control the services that are provided under the contract and as ownership of the 
property, plant and equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the contract for 
no additional charge, the Council holds the Property, Plant and Equipment used 
under the contracts on its Balance Sheet.  
 
The original introduction of these assets onto the balance sheet is matched by the 
recognition of a deferred liability for amounts due to the operator to pay for the 
assets. Where the assets come into use at different stages the asset and matching 
liability are introduced in stages. For some PFI schemes the liability is written down 
by an initial capital contribution. This capital contribution was either in the form of a 
cash contribution or assets transferred to the contractor. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment relating to PFIs and similar contracts, recognised on 
the Balance Sheet, is revalued, depreciated and impaired in the same way as other 
property, plant and equipment owned by the Council. 
 
The amounts payable to the operator each year are analysed as follows: 

● Value of the service received (including facilities management) during the 
year - debited to the relevant service line in the Deficit / Surplus on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  

● Interest cost based on the outstanding deferred liability - debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Deficit / Surplus 
on the Provision of Services. 

● Payment towards liability - debited to the deferred liability on the Balance 
Sheet thus reducing the liability. For non-HRA contracts this reduction in the 
charge in the Deficit / Surplus on the Provision of Services is replaced by an 
equivalent amount of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. For HRA contracts this reduction in unitary charge is 
reversed in the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

● Lifecycle replacement costs - these are posted to the Balance Sheet as a 
prepayment and then included as additions to Property, Plant and Equipment 
when the works are carried out. Where lifecycle costs can be identified as 
capital in nature they have been recognised as capital expenditure. This 
expenditure relates to enhancements or replacement of assets. 

 
Government grants received towards the funding of general fund PFI related 
payments are shown within the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. HRA PFI related grants are 
shown within the HRA income line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
1.2.5 Heritage Assets 
 

Page 19

Item 5



 

 

Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved for future 
generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. They 
are held by the Council in pursuit of its overall objectives in relation to the 
maintenance of heritage. Heritage assets include civic regalia, museum and gallery 
collections and works of art. Community assets (including parks and cemeteries) are 
not heritage assets, but are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.   
 
Operational heritage assets (i.e. those that, in addition to being held for their heritage 
characteristics, are also used by the Council for other activities or to provide other 
services) are accounted for as operational assets rather than heritage assets and 
valued in the same way as other assets of that general type (e.g. buildings such as 
the Central Library). 
 
Heritage assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at market value where this is 
available. For those assets where no market value is available the insurance 
valuation is used. Where a valuation is not available and cannot be obtained at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to the users of the financial statements 
the assets are held at cost. Where the cost information is not available, they are not 
recognised in the balance sheet. 
 
Depreciation is not provided for as these assets are considered to have infinite lives. 
Any impairment is recognised and measured in accordance with the Council’s 
general policies on impairment (policy 1.2.8). The proceeds of any disposals are 
accounted for in accordance with the Council’s general provisions relating to the de-
recognition of property, plant and equipment (policy 1.2.3). 
 
1.2.6 Investment Properties 
 
Investment Properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and / or for 
capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to 
provide services by the Council or is held for sale. 
 
Investment Properties are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition they are 
measured at fair value - highest and best use. The fair value reflects market 
conditions at the balance sheet date. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair 
value of investment property is recognised in the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Investment Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to 
market conditions at year end. 
 
An investment property is derecognised on disposal. Gains or losses arising from the 
disposal are recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Revaluation and disposal gains and losses are reversed in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and sale 
proceeds over £10,000 to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 

Page 20

Item 5



 

 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing 
and Investment income line in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
1.2.7 Schools 
 
In accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting the Council 
has assessed the legal framework underlying each school. The Council controls the 
non-current assets of community schools and foundation schools, vested with the 
governing body as a Trustee, as future economic benefits associated with the assets 
will flow to the Council and therefore the land and buildings of those schools are 
shown on the Council's balance sheet. The land and buildings of voluntary aided, 
voluntary controlled and foundation schools, where the trust is not the governing 
body are owned and controlled by the trustees of the schools or the foundation body 
and are therefore not shown on the balance sheet of the Council.  
 
Any schools held on the balance sheet, which are transferred to academy status 
form part of the loss on disposal of non-current assets. This includes schools 
managed under a PFI contract. 
 
Capital expenditure on schools shown on the Council’s balance sheet is added to the 
value of those schools. Capital expenditure on schools not on the Council’s balance 
sheet is treated as REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under 
Statute) expenditure and written off each year to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the Children's Services line. This is reversed out 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement and a transfer made to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
All revenue income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of maintained schools, after 
the removal of transactions between schools and the Council, are included in the 
Council’s single entity accounts.  
 
Individual schools' balances are included in the balance sheet of the Council as any 
unspent delegated schools budget remains the property of the Council although 
these can only be spent by the school. 
 
The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is allocated between the central council 
budgets and budgets allocated to individual schools (delegated school budgets). 
Expenditure from central council budgets and delegated schools’ budgets is charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the Children's 
Services line. 
 
The new accounting regulations introduced relating to the Dedicated Schools Grant 
deficit balances are applicable to local authority accounting periods beginning on 1 
April 2020. The financial statement will continue to be produced under IFRS with the 
DSG being accounted for in the normal way (through the CIES). A deficit must be 
carried forward to funded from future DSG income. An accounting adjustment is then 
made via the MIRS to move any DSG deficit balances on a time limited basis to an 
unusable reserve established for that purpose. 
 

Page 21

Item 5



 

 

1.2.8 Impairment 
 
Assets are reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Examples of 
impairment include a significant reduction in a specific assets value and evidence of 
physical damage (e.g. fire damage). 
 
The amount of impairment is charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that 
the impairment does not exceed the amount in the Revaluation Reserve for the 
same asset. Thereafter the impairment is charged to the Deficit / Surplus on the 
Provision of Services. 
 
This charge is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the 
Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed (for example if the damage is 
made good), the reversal is credited to the relevant service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been 
recognised.  
 
1.2.9 Provision for Redemption of Debt 
 
The Council is required to make provision for the repayment of an element of the 
accumulated General Fund capital expenditure, financed by borrowing, through a 
revenue charge, in accordance with the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
requirements. Regulations replaced the detailed formula for calculating MRP with a 
requirement to be prudent. The MRP policy (which details the basis of the provision) 
is agreed annually by the Council within the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
For all non-HRA capital expenditure funded by supported borrowing, otherwise 
known as supported capital expenditure, the Council’s policy is to charge 2% of the 
capital financing requirement 

For all non-HRA unsupported borrowing MRP is calculated using the estimated life of 
the asset. Dependent upon the nature of the capital expenditure, a straight line 
(equal amount of MRP over the life of the asset) or annuity method (equal amount of 
MRP plus interest over the life of the asset) is used to link MRP to the future flow of 
benefits from the asset.  
 
Where capital expenditure is incurred through providing loans to organisations, and 
those loans are indemnified or have financial guarantees protecting against 
loss, no MRP is charged in relation to the capital expenditure. 
 
MRP starts in the year after the capital expenditure is incurred or in the case of new 
assets, in the year following the asset coming into use.  
 
MRP is provided for non-HRA PFI related assets on the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
This equates to the amount of unitary charge charged against the deferred liability on 
the Balance Sheet.  
 

Page 22

Item 5



 

 

MRP is provided for assets held under finance leases (including embedded leases) 
where the Council is the lessee. This equates to the amount of the lease payment 
charged against the deferred liability on the Balance Sheet. 
 
There is no MRP charge to the Housing Revenue Account.  
 
1.2.10 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
  
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) is expenditure 
of a capital nature that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset on the 
Balance Sheet. These are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned 
by the Council. Expenditure is charged to the Deficit / Surplus on the Provision of 
Services as it is incurred. This is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Details of the accounting policy relating to grants and external contribution funding of 
REFCUS expenditure is shown in policy 1.2.15c.  
 
1.2.11 Non-Current Assets held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than its continued use it is reclassified as 
an asset held for sale. Before an asset can be classed as held for sale it must be 
available for immediate sale in its present condition, the sale must be highly 
probable, the asset must be actively marketed and the sale should be expected to be 
completed within one year of the date of classification. In situations where it is not 
necessary to carry out active marketing, for example because the Council is able to 
identify prospective purchasers willing to pay a reasonable price without marketing 
(such as transfers to a joint venture) or because a buyer initiates the transaction 
(such as right to buy sales), this test is not applicable. Where events or 
circumstances extend the period beyond one year and there is sufficient evidence 
that the Council remains committed to the plan to sell the assets they are classed as 
long-term assets held for sale. 
 
The held for sale asset is carried at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value 
less costs to sell. Where this results in a loss in value this loss is posted to Other 
Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Once an asset is classed as held for sale it is no longer depreciated. 
 
If assets no longer meet the classification as assets held for sale they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying 
amount before they were classified as held for sale (adjusted for depreciation, 
amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classed as held for sale) or their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not 
to sell. 
 
1.2.12 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
  
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not when cash payments are 
made or received. In particular, revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 

Page 23

Item 5



 

 

the Council transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser 
and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Council. 
 
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure 
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Council. 
 
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. 
 
Provision is made for debts that are not considered to be collectable – referred to as 
impairment of financial assets. This provision is calculated based on the expected 
amount that will not be collected for differing types of debt applied to the amount of 
outstanding debt. The balance of debtors on the Balance Sheet is reduced by the 
amount of provision made. 
 
Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) 
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when 
payments are made. 
 
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for 
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by 
the contract. 
 
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  
 
1.2.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of no more than twenty four hours. Cash 
equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the 
date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that form an integral 
part of cash management. 
 
1.2.14 Provisions 
  
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, but the timing of the 
transfer is uncertain. Examples include a legal case that will probably result in a 
payment of compensation.  
 

Page 24

Item 5



 

 

Contributions to provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year the Council becomes 
aware of the obligation based on the best estimate of the likely settlement. When 
payments are made, they are charged to the provision. Estimated settlements are 
reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it becomes likely that a transfer 
of economic benefits will not be required the contribution to the provision is reversed 
and credited back to the service line.  
 
Provisions are classified as either short or long term depending on the likely date of 
settlement. 
 
1.2.15 Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Government grants and contributions are not recognised until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Council will comply with the conditions attached to them and the 
grant or contribution will be received. Grants and contributions are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the grant or 
contribution has a condition that has not been met. Conditions are stipulations that 
must be satisfied, or the grant or contribution must be returned. Monies advanced as 
grants and contributions for which conditions are not yet met are carried in the 
Balance Sheet as receipts in advance.  
 
a. Revenue Grants and Contributions 
 
Revenue grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service line for specific 
grants and the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line for grants that cover 
general expenditure (e.g. New Homes Bonus Grant) except where the grant or 
contribution has a condition that has not been met. When the specific grant has been 
recognised but the expenditure relating to it has not been incurred the Council has 
elected to make a contribution equivalent to the unspent amount of grant to an 
earmarked reserve. This reserve will be released in future financial years when the 
expenditure to which the grant relates is incurred. 
 
b. Capital Grants and Contributions 
 
Capital grants and contributions are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the 
grant or contribution has a condition that has not been met. The amount of the grant 
or contribution that has been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The balance of the 
grant or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure is transferred to 
the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account when they are used to fund capital expenditure. 
 
c. Grants and Contributions attributable to Revenue Expenditure Funded from 
Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
These grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the grant or 

Page 25

Item 5



 

 

contribution has a condition that has not been met. The amount of the grant or 
contribution that has been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The balance of the 
grant or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure is transferred to 
the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account when they are used to fund expenditure.  
 
1.2.16 Reserves 
  
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve 
is incurred it is charged to the appropriate service in that year. The reserve is then 
appropriated back into the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge for the expenditure on the General Fund balance. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the specific accounting treatment for Property, 
Plant and Equipment and retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources 
for the Council. These are shown as unusable reserves in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement and Balance Sheet. 
 
1.2.17 Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is a subset of income and is defined as the gross inflow of economic 
benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in 
an increase in net worth. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. In 
most cases, the consideration receivable is in the form of cash and cash equivalents 
and the amount of revenue is the amount of cash and cash equivalents receivable. 
 
Where the Council is acting as an agent of another organisation the amounts 
collected for that organisation are excluded from revenue. 
 
Revenue is recognised when the performance obligations in a contract have been 
satisfied. This recognition can be over time when the service recipient 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits (e.g. home care services) or at a 
point in time. 
 
Revenue for Council Tax and Business Rates is recognised when the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably, and it is probable the revenue will be received by 
the Council. 
 
1.2.18 Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT is only included in expenditure, either revenue or capital, to the extent that it is 
not recoverable from HM Revenues and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from 
income. 
 

Page 26

Item 5



 

 

1.2.19 Leases 
 
Leases are classified as either finance or operating leases based on the extent to 
which risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor 
or lessee. Whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease depends on the 
substance of the transaction rather than the contract. Leases are classed as finance 
leases where the terms of the lease transfer the majority of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Land and building 
elements of a lease are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey the right to use 
an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific asset. This is referred to as an 
embedded lease. 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Lessee 
Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases are recognised on the 
Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its current value at the time of 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments if lower). The asset 
recognised is matched by a deferred liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between a charge for the acquisition of the interest 
in the property, plant or equipment which is applied to write down the deferred 
liability and a finance charge which is recognised in the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
 
These property, plant and equipment recognised are subject to depreciation. The 
MRP on these assets equates to the amount of the lease payment that is applied to 
write down the deferred liability. 
 
The deferred liabilities are classified as either short or long term in line with the lease 
repayments. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Lessee 
Leasing payments for operating leases are charged to revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments 
(e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease) and are shown 
within service expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Lessor 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is 
a premium paid at the commencement of the lease) and is shown in the Other 

Page 27

Item 5



 

 

Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Assets held for use as operating leases are recorded as assets in the 
Council’s Balance Sheet. 
 
1.2.20 Benefits Payable during Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the 
year end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, flexi 
time leave and paid sick leave for current employees. They are recognised as an 
expense for services in the year in which employees undertake the service for the 
Council. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlement (including flexi time 
leave), earned by employees but not taken before the year end, which employees 
can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wages and 
salary rates applicable in the following financial year, being the period in which the 
employee takes the benefit and includes employer national insurance and pension 
contributions. 
 
The accrual is charged to the Deficit / Surplus on the Provision of Services but then 
reversed through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Short Term 
Accumulated Absences Account so that holiday absences are charged against 
Council Tax or Housing Rents in the financial year in which the absence occurs. 
 
1.2.21 Termination Benefits 
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary severance and are shown on an accruals basis in the 
Deficit / Surplus on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the 
offer or when it recognises the costs for a restructuring that involves termination 
benefits. 
 
Where the employee makes the decision, the liability is recognised at the earlier of 
when the employee accepts the offer or when a restriction on the Council’s ability to 
withdraw the offer takes effect. 
 
1.2.22 Post-Employment Benefits 
 
a. Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
  
The payment of statutory pensions to former teachers is administered by Capita 
Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education (DfE). Contributions 
from teachers together with the employer's contribution are paid by the Council. The 
arrangements for this scheme mean that liabilities for benefits cannot be identified to 
the Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme – no liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance 
Sheet and the Children’s Services line within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions payable in the 
year. 
 

Page 28

Item 5



 

 

The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon 
early retirement outside of the terms of the Teachers’ scheme. These benefits are 
fully accrued in the pension liability. 
 
b. National Health Service (NHS) Pension Scheme 
 
Under the arrangements for Public Health, staff performing public health functions 
who were compulsorily transferred from the Primary Care Trusts to local authorities 
and had access to the NHS Pension Scheme on 31 March 2013 retained access to 
that Scheme on transfer at 1 April 2013. 
 
The NHS pension scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers and is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. This means that liabilities 
for benefits cannot be identified to the Council. The scheme is therefore accounted 
for as a defined contribution scheme – no liability for future payments of benefits is 
recognised in the Balance Sheet and the Adult Social Care line within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s 
contributions payable in the year. 
 
c. Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The Council pays an employer's contribution into the Greater Manchester Pension 
Fund, which is a fully funded defined benefits scheme administered by Tameside 
Metropolitan Borough Council from whom an Annual Report is available. 
 
The liabilities of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, 
i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees. 
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on a basket of high quality corporate bonds, 
government gilts and other factors. 
 
The assets of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

● quoted securities – current bid price 

● unquoted securities – professional estimate 

● unitised securities – current bid price 

● property – market value. 
 

The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components: 
 

● The current service cost (the increase in the liability as a result of pension 
earned by Council employees in the year) is charged to the net cost of services.  

 
● Past services costs (the increase in the liability arising from current year 

decisions whose effect relate to years of service earned in earlier years) are 

Page 29

Item 5



 

 

shown within council wide items as they are costs that are not attributable to a 
particular service. An example of when past service costs would occur is 
where there was a change in the basis of up-rating annual pensions. 

 
● Gains and losses on settlements and curtailments (the result of actions to 

relieve the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future 
service or accrual of benefits of employees) are also shown as council wide 
items. 

 
● The net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. net interest expenses 

for the period that arises from the passage of time, is shown within the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line.  

 
Re-measurements comprising: 
 

● The return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest on the 
defined benefit liability; 
 

● change in demographic assumptions re-measurements; and 
 

● actuarial gains and losses on changes in financial assumptions – changes in 
the net pension liability that arise because events have not coincided with 
assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because actuaries have 
updated their financial assumptions (such as percentage increase in salaries) 
are shown within Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund and 
HRA balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the 
notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for 
the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable 
but unpaid at the year end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions 
Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund and HRA of 
being required to account for retirement benefits based on the cash flows rather than 
as benefits are earned by employees. The balance will be presented differently as a 
result of the upfront payment as set out below: 
 
Upfront pension payment 
 
The Council has agreed with the Greater Manchester Pension Fund that the 
employer’s contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme will be paid as a 
single up-front payment for the 3 year period 2020-21 to 2022-23. The amounts paid 
each year will be offset against the pension liability on the balance sheet. These 
amounts will then be reflected in the pensions reserve in the years to which they 
relate. In the final year all amounts will have been reflected in the pension reserve to 
align to the pension liability. 
 
Financial Instruments 

Page 30

Item 5



 

 

1.2.23 Financial Assets 
 
Financial Assets e.g. investments and debtors are classified into three types – 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL). 
 
The categorisation of financial assets into these types is dependent on the reason for 
holding these assets (to collect cash flows, to sell assets or achieve objectives by 
other means). 
 
Financial assets are brought onto the balance sheet at fair value when the Council 
becomes a party to contractual provisions. 
 
Amortised Cost 
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to 
them are solely principal and interest and they are held to generate cash flows (e.g. 
investments of surplus cash with the government’s debt management office or loans 
to third parties). 
 
The interest received on these assets is spread evenly over the life of these 
instruments. 
 
Any gain or loss in the value of these assets is recognised in the net surplus / deficit 
on the net provision of services at the point of de-recognition (disposal) or 
reclassification. 
 
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to 
them are solely principal and interest, but they are held to collect cash and sell the 
assets (e.g. money market funds). 
 
The interest received on these assets is spread evenly over the life of these 
instruments. 
 
Changes in the fair value of these assets are charged to Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure. Cumulative gains and losses are charged to the surplus / 
deficit on provision of services when they are disposed of. 
 
Under capital accounting regulations where these assets were treated as capital 
expenditure the gain or loss is reversed to an unusable reserve - the Financial 
Instruments Revaluation Reserve. 
 
Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVPL) 
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to 
them are not principal and interest (e.g. equity investments). 
 
Dividends received are accounted for at the point they are declared. 
 
Charges in fair value are charged to the surplus / deficit on the net provision of 
services as they occur.  

Page 31

Item 5



 

 

Under capital accounting regulations where these assets were treated as capital 
expenditure the gain or loss is reversed through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and charged to an unusable reserve - the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
An equity instrument that has been classed as FVPL can be designated as FVOCI if 
it is not held for trading (e.g. a strategic investment). Once this designation has been 
made it cannot be reversed. This designation would mean that any gains and losses 
would be held in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve. 
 
Credit loss 
The Council will recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses, if applicable, 
on assets where cash flows are solely principal and interest (i.e. financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI unless they have been 
designated as such). This does not apply where the counterparty is central 
government or another local authority. 
 
At each year end the loss allowance for a financial instrument is calculated as equal 
to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. 
 
If at year end the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected credit 
losses. 
 
Where the financial asset was treated as capital expenditure any losses will be 
reversed via the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 
 
The Council has made several loans to individuals at less than market rates of 
interest (these are known as soft loans). When the loans are made the amount of 
interest foregone over the life of the loan is charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement (debited to the appropriate service line) and the 
outstanding principal is reduced on the Balance Sheet. This represents the present 
value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the loan agreement. 
Statutory provisions require that the impact of the soft loans on the General Fund 
balance is the interest receivable in the year, so the amount of foregone interest 
charged is managed by a transfer from the Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account to the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
1.2.24 Embedded Derivatives 
 
The Council has given equity mortgages and loans to individuals to assist with the 
purchase and improvement of properties. The repayments of these are based on a 
proportion of the value of the property in a number of years. This type of loan is 
classed as an embedded derivative as the amount of repayment is linked to future 
property values. When these mortgages and loans are granted, long-term debtors 
and deferred capital receipts are written onto the balance sheet. At the end of each 
financial year the long-term debtors and deferred capital receipt are adjusted in line 
with the change in property values.  
 

Page 32

Item 5



 

 

1.2.25 Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities (e.g. borrowings and creditors) are recognised when there is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 
that are potentially unfavourable to the Council. For instance, when the Council takes 
out a loan, the advance of cash from the lender initiates the obligation to repay at 
some future date, and the loan would be recognised as a liability on the Balance 
Sheet when the advance is received.  
 
Charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based 
on the carrying amount of the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. (The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was 
originally recognised).  
 
For many of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount shown 
in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable plus accrued interest, 
and the amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
is the amount payable per the loan agreement. 
 
For Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans the effective interest rate has 
been calculated over the life of the loan. This is an average and differs from the 
amounts actually paid in the year. The difference between the calculated interest 
charge and interest paid has been adjusted in the carrying amount of the loan on the 
balance sheet. The amount charged in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the effective interest rate for the life of the loan rather than the amount 
payable per the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Council is in receipt of loans that are interest free or at less than 
prevailing market interest rates if material, the effective interest rate is calculated so 
that the value of the financial assistance to the Council by the lender is separated 
from the financial cost of the transaction. This gain is calculated by working out the 
net present value of all future cash payments using the interest rate for a similar loan 
taken by the Council. This results in a lower figure for the fair value of the loan with 
the difference from the loan received treated as a government grant. This gain is 
reversed out in the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Financial Instruments 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase or 
settlement. However, if the repurchase takes place as part of a restructuring of the 
loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the 
premium or discount is deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or 
modified loan. In this scenario the write down to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate.  
 

Page 33

Item 5



 

 

Where premiums and discounts (amounts paid or received on the rescheduling of a 
loan) have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
regulations allow the impact of premiums on the General Fund balance to be spread 
over the longer of the outstanding period of the replaced loan or the period of the 
replacement loan or any other shorter period that the Council wishes to choose. 
Discounts are required to be credited to revenue over a maximum period equal to 
the outstanding term of the replaced loan or ten years (if shorter). The difference 
between the amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the net charge against the General Fund balance is transferred to or 
from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement of Reserves 
Statement.  
 
Following the HRA debt settlement there are no outstanding HRA premiums and 
discounts. 
 
1.2.26 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council.  

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential.  

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council.  

Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note 
to the accounts.  
 
1.2.27 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and 
Estimates and Errors 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or 
to correct a material error. Changes in estimation techniques are accounted for 
prospectively (i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change) and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the 
effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position 
or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless otherwise stated) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts 
for the prior period. 
 
1.2.28 Material Items of Income and Expenditure 
 

Page 34

Item 5



 

 

Where items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is 
disclosed separately either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant 
the items are to an understanding of the Council’s financial performance. 
 
1.2.29 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
Events after the balance sheet date are those events that occur between the end of 
the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. 
 
Where these provide evidence of conditions in existence at the balance sheet date, 
the amounts recognised in the accounts are adjusted (e.g. settlement of a court case 
that confirms the amount of obligation at the balance sheet date). Where these are 
indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date the amounts in the 
accounts are not adjusted (e.g. significant decline in market investments after 31 
March). This is known as a non-adjusting event and is disclosed as a note to the 
accounts.  
 
Events identified after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
1.2.30 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
  
The Council has material interests in companies and other entities and therefore 
group accounts have been prepared for the Council and its material interest in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Inclusion in the Council group is 
dependent upon the extent of the Council’s interest and power to influence an entity. 
The determining factor for assessing the extent of interest, power or power to 
influence is either through ownership of an entity, a shareholding in an entity or 
representation on an entity’s board of directors. An assessment of all the Council’s 
interests has been carried out during the year, in accordance with the Code of 
Practice, to determine the relationships that exist and whether they should be 
included in the Council’s group accounts. In the Council’s single-entity accounts the 
Council’s interest in those companies included in its group accounts are recorded as 
long term investments at cost. 
 
1.2.31 Joint Operations 
 
Joint Operations are arrangements where the parties are bound by a contractual 
arrangement, have joint control of the arrangement and have rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Council recognises its 
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the joint operation in its 
single entity accounts. 
 
1.2.32 Local Taxation 
 
The Council, as a billing authority act as an agent, collecting Council Tax and 
national non-domestic rates (NNDR) on behalf of the major preceptors and, as 
principals, collecting Council Tax and NNDR for themselves. Billing authorities are 

Page 35

Item 5



 

 

required by statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e. the Collection Fund) for the 
collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of Council Tax and NNDR. 
Under the legislative framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities and major 
preceptors share proportionately the risks and rewards that the amount of Council 
Tax and NNDR collected could be less or more than predicted. 
 
The Council Tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the Council’s share of accrued income for the year. 
However, regulations determine the amount of Council Tax and NNDR that must be 
included in the Council’s General Fund. Therefore, the difference between the 
income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the 
amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The Balance Sheet includes the Council’s share of the end of year balances in 
respect of Council Tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowances for 
doubtful debts, overpayments and prepayments and appeals. 
 
1.2.33 Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Council measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value at the balance 
sheet date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
 
● In the principal market for the asset or liability or 
● In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset or liability. 
 
The Council uses Valuers to provide a valuation of its assets and liabilities in line 
with the highest and best use definition within the accounting standard. The highest 
and best use of the asset or liability being valued is considered from the perspective 
of a market participant. 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of the Council’s fair value of its assets 
and liabilities are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

● Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Council can access at the measurement date 

● Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 

● Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

2. Critical Accounting Judgements  
 
In applying the accounting policies set out in section 1 the Council has to make 
certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about 
future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
2.1 Schools Non-Current Assets 

Page 36

Item 5



 

 

The Council has assessed the legal framework underlying each type of school.  
 
Community schools property, plant and equipment are owned by the Council and 
remain on the balance sheet as future economic benefits associated with the assets 
will flow to the Council. 
 
The plant, property and equipment of voluntary aided, voluntary controlled and 
foundation schools are owned and controlled by the religious body or the trustees of 
the schools and are therefore not shown on the balance sheet of the Council unless 
the trustees are the governing body. 
 
The Council does not control the schools’ property, plant and equipment owned by 
the religious bodies or the trustees, there has been no past events which have 
transferred the ownership or control of the property, plant and equipment to the 
Council and any future benefits from the property, plant and equipment would be for 
the benefit of the religious body or trustee and not the Council. 
 
An asset must be controlled by the Council for that asset to be recognised in the 
single entity accounts. Usage of the asset does not demonstrate control in form or 
substance without rights that are either legal or substantive.    
 
The religious bodies or trustees own the assets, there has not been a reassignment 
of those assets to the Council and the rights to the asset are still maintained by the 
religious body or the trust. The religious bodies or trustees have a legal right to take 
back these assets. 
 
The religious bodies or trustees have provided a licence for the Council to use the 
asset however these licenses are not provided in a written form. These licences do 
not create control of the asset by the Council. The religious bodies or trustees assert 
their continued control over the asset by permitting the asset to be used for precisely 
the purpose that the school wishes by the objectives of the religious bodies or 
trustees being the same as the governing bodies. 
  
The religious bodies or trustees have decided that their asset is to be used as a 
school and therefore continue to have the rights to the resources in the asset. The 
continued agreement to permit the schools to use the asset means that the religious 
bodies or trustees are perpetually reasserting their control, and this has not been 
passed to the school. 
 
The right of termination of the arrangement at any time by the religious body or trust 
provides evidence that the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset have not 
transferred to the Council. 
 
Details of the value of schools land and building assets are shown in the notes to the 
accounts. 
 
2.2 PFI and Similar Arrangements 
 
The Council is deemed to control the services provided via its PFI arrangements and 
to control the residual value of the assets at the end of the contract. The accounting 

Page 37

Item 5



 

 

policy for PFIs and similar contracts has been applied to these arrangements and the 
assets are recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Council’s Balance 
Sheet.  
 
The operators’ models were examined to identify the service element of the unitary 
charge. Where that charge could not be clearly separated the relevant costs were 
obtained from the models and a margin was applied to the costs to provide an 
amount for the service costs. The margin used was based on advice received from 
expert external advisors. The service element of the unitary charge is inflated 
annually by an agreed indicator (e.g. RPI) as per the contract. 
 
The implicit interest rate (IIR) was calculated by discounting the non-service element 
of the unitary charge at a rate that brings it back to the fair value of the asset. The 
fair value of the asset is taken as the construction or refurbishment costs of the 
scheme. The IIR calculated is compared to the closing swap rate in the financial 
model to check the reasonableness of the assumptions made. 
 
2.3 Investment Properties 
 
The Council has reviewed all assets to ensure they meet the accounting policy for 
investment properties (i.e. they are solely used to earn rentals and / or for capital 
appreciation) and as a result, assets are recognised as Investment Properties in the 
Council’s Balance Sheet. 
 
2.4 Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment 
 
The Council’s property, plant and equipment assets are valued on the balance sheet 
in accordance with the statement of asset valuation principles and guidance notes 
issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS): 
 

● plant and machinery are included in the valuations of buildings when it is an 
integral part of the building. 

 
● properties classified as operational, excluding council dwellings, were valued 

on the basis of net realisable value in existing use or, where a market did not 
exist, on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. 

 
● council dwellings were valued in accordance with Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance at open market 
value less a specified, notified percentage known as the social housing 
discount. 

 
● community assets and infrastructure have been valued at depreciated 

historical cost. 
 
● properties classified as non-operational have been valued on the basis of 

market value for the highest or best use. 
 
Council dwellings are revalued annually. All other non-current assets, with the 
exception of those valued at depreciated historical cost are valued sufficiently 

Page 38

Item 5



 

 

regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
value at year end, but as a minimum every five years. Valuations are undertaken 
during the year by internal council Valuers and Jacobs, external Valuers 
commissioned by the Council with a valuation date of 1 April 2020. Jacobs provide 
indexation factors for the percentage increase in value from the date of the last 
valuation to 31 March 2021 for each category of asset. These are applied to the 
asset values, where material, to provide a more accurate balance sheet value. 
 
2.5 Valuation of Heritage Assets 
 
The Code permits councils to measure community assets in the same way as 
heritage assets. However, the Council has decided that these should continue to be 
measured at depreciated historical cost. 
 
The Code states that valuation of heritage assets may be made by any method that 
is appropriate and relevant. There is no requirement for valuations to be carried out 
or verified by external valuers. The Council has therefore chosen to use market 
valuation, where this is available. Where a market valuation is not available 
insurance valuation has been used. Where this information is not available and 
cannot be obtained at a cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the 
financial statements, the assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Items with 
a value of less than £100,000 are excluded from the balance sheet. 
 
As a result, assets have been classified as Heritage Assets. 
 
2.6 Classification of Financial Assets 
 
Under IFRS9 (Financial Instruments) the default valuation method of the Council’s 
equity holdings would be Fair Value through Profit and Loss. However, it is the 
Council’s view that the majority of its equity instruments are strategic investments 
(i.e. are not held for trading) and designating these at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income results in a reasonable and reliable accounting policy for the 
investment. 
 
2.7 Better Care Fund (BCF) 
 
The Better Care Fund Pooled Budget arrangements commenced on 1 April 2015. 
The Council is the host for the Manchester BCF. The accounting arrangements for 
the BCF are dependent on whether the Council, as host, has control of the fund. The 
agreement with the Manchester Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) states that 
relevant decisions must have unanimous agreement, all members of the fund hold 
providers to account for delivery of services and risks are borne in line with the 
agreement. The Council’s view is that the BCF should be accounted for as a joint 
operation and as a result accounts for its share of the fund’s assets, liabilities, 
expenditure and income.  
 
2.8 Composition of the Council’s Group 
 
The Council undertakes its activities through a variety of undertakings, either under 
ultimate control or in partnership with other organisations. Those considered to be 

Page 39

Item 5



 

 

material are included in the group accounts. Profit and loss, net worth and value of 
non-current assets for each organisation are considered as a percentage of the 
Council’s single entity accounts to determine those that are material. Turnover, 
assets and liabilities (including the pension liability) are assessed individually. An 
entity could be material but still not consolidated (if all of its business is with the 
Council and eliminated on consolidation) – i.e. the consolidation would mean that the 
group accounts are not materially different to the single entity accounts. The 
assessment of materiality also considers qualitative factors such as whether the 
Council depends significantly on these entities for the continued provision of its 
statutory services or where there is concern about the level to which the Council is 
exposed to commercial risk 
 
3. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. 
Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and 
other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with 
certainty, actual results could be different from the assumptions and estimates.  
 
The items in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2021 for which there is a risk 
of adjustment in the following financial year are: 
 
3.1 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
 
Property, plant and equipment (with the exception of infrastructure, community 
assets, assets under construction and small value items of vehicles, plant and 
equipment) are revalued on a periodic basis and tested annually for indicators of 
impairment. Judgements are required to make an assessment as to whether there is 
an indication of impairment. This includes examination of capital expenditure 
incurred in the financial year to ascertain whether or not it has resulted in an 
increase in value of an asset. Advice has been provided by valuers employed by the 
Council. If the actual results differ from the assumptions the value of PPE will be 
over or understated. This would be adjusted when the assets were next revalued. 
 
3.2 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Assets are depreciated based on useful lives that are dependent on assumptions 
about the level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to 
individual assets. The current economic climate makes it uncertain that the Council 
will be able to maintain the expenditure on repairs and maintenance resulting in 
uncertainty in the useful lives assigned to assets by the Valuers. If the useful life of 
assets is reduced depreciation increases and the carrying amount of assets falls.  
 
However, due to capital regulations, there would be no impact on the general fund 
balance. 
 
Jacobs have provided percentages, based on their professional judgement, for 
various components of council houses and flats. These percentages have been 
applied to the valuations of houses and flats to obtain valuations of the components 

Page 40

Item 5



 

 

to which useful lives are applied to calculate the depreciation on council dwellings. If 
these percentages were amended, the value of the council dwellings and the related 
depreciation would be over or under stated.  
 
3.3 Compensation Provisions 
 
The Council has made various provisions in relation to compensation claims 
submitted to the Council. These provisions are based on the number of claims 
outstanding at the end of the financial year, the average settlement amount for each 
type of claim and the likelihood of each type of claim being settled. It is not certain 
that the precedents set in previous years will be applicable to the current outstanding 
claims. 
 
3.4 Provision for Business Rate Appeals  
 
The Council has made a provision for a reduction in business rate income due to 
appeals made against rateable values set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA). 
This is based on percentage reductions in rateable values for hereditaments where 
there was an outstanding appeal on 31 March 2021. This provision includes the 
estimated impact on 2020/21 income of appeals anticipated to be lodged in future 
years. The percentages used for appeals against the 2010 valuation list are based 
on information from the VOA on the percentage reductions, per category of property 
and type of appeal, to the valuation list following previously settled appeals. Appeals 
raised against hereditaments with larger RVs have been considered separately. The 
percentage used for the reduction in the 2017 valuation list is based on the 
percentage that the 2010 list has fallen by adjusted by the reduction in value that has 
already occurred as a result of the new check, challenge, and appeal process.  
 
3.5 Arrears 
 
At 31 March 2021 the Council had a balance of short term debtors. This included 
sundry debtors (including housing benefit overpayments), housing rent debtors, 
council tax debtors and business rates debtors. A review of these outstanding 
balances suggests that an impairment of doubtful debts was appropriate. However, 
in the current economic climate it is not certain that such an allowance would be 
sufficient.  
 
3.6 Pensions Liability 
 
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the expected rate of price inflation, the 
rate at which salaries and pensions are expected to increase, mortality rates and 
rate of commutation of pensions. A firm of actuaries are engaged by the Pension 
Fund to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The effects on 
the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. 
 

Page 41

Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Accounting Concepts and Policies, Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

